Navigation on the Great Ouse

Local historians, Charles Tebbutt and Rosa Young, have published extensive research into St Neots’ history. What follows has largely been gleaned from their work.

The River Great Ouse has a large catchment area covering parts of Bedfordshire, Huntingdonshire, Cambridgeshire where it joins the River Cam at Littleport and then flows north through Norfolk to King’s Lynn and the Wash and the North Sea coast.

It flows roughly southwest – northeast through St Neots in a narrow alluvial flood plain between a number of gravel terraces.

The Romans used the river for transporting goods in shallow-draught boats (lighters) to their forts and settlements alongside it. There was a small Roman earthwork on a gravel terrace at the Coneygeare which may well have been a trading post.

Danish invasions were based on transport upstream by river.

The Normans used the river for trade and the French monks at the Priory had a wharf by the river. All the medieval churches and the Priory were built using stone and timber carried by boat.

When the first water mills were built is unknown but there were several recorded in the Domesday Survey of 1068.

(Those that were built across a narrow river were an obstacle to navigation as barges or boats had to be unloaded and their cargoes hauled to the other side of the mill. Sometimes the boat itself was hauled overland to be reloaded, otherwise another vessel was needed. This was called ‘backing’ and added considerably to the time and cost of transport.)
As the Great Ouse is up to 150 feet (94m.) wide in places, too wide for a horizontal waterwheel, a weir and sluice gate were installed and channels cut into river bank to allow water to drain onto (undershoot) and power a vertical waterwheel.

The shallow-bottomed boats that used the river were barges with masts and square sails. They were called “lighters”. Some were up to 40 feet (14.8m.) long with a 10-foot (3.7m.) beam (width). When they were empty they had a one and a half foot (0.45m.) draught; when fully loaded with 25 tons it was three and a half feet (3.23m.).

Sails were used during windy weather but in calm conditions horses were often used to tow the boats along the river.

They normally worked in ‘gangs’ of five or six boats. One was the house boat, where the crew cooked and slept in a cabin. It towed several smaller boats including the ‘horse boat’. This had a flat top so the towing horse could safely walk onto where either the tow path stopped or crossed to the other side of the river. The horse had to be trained to step onto and off the boat, to tow large loads and to pause before jumping over low field fences that crossed the tow path. This allowed the rope to go slack. 

The people who worked the lighters were often families whose children continued their parents’ work. The knowledge and skills were passed down from generation to generation.

As trade expanded during the medieval and post-medieval period there was a need to improve the navigation. In the early-17th century Arnold Spencer got permission from James I to construct locks between St Ives and Bedford as a commercial undertaking. They were completed up to St Neots by 1620. He then charged all river boat owners a fee for using the locks.

The navigation had benefits to local people as great numbers of eels were captured in traps at the canal sluice gates. These eels graced many local tables and became extremely popular as a regional dish.

The locks were often built beside the mill and often only had one gate. There was friction between millers and boatmen as the miller often would not open their sluice gates and let more water through until the boatmen paid them a fee.

One dispute between millers and boatmen ended up in court. Legal evidence submitted to the Commissioners of the Court of the Exchequer in 1672 shows that the following produce was going to and from St Neots:

Grain (wheat, barley, oats), coal, salt, deal boards, fir timber, iron, fish and other commodities (malt, wine and stone). 

Navigation Wharf on Hen Brook provided safe moorage for the lighters. It was deepened and straightened as far as the bridge near St Mary’s Church. Corn merchants and people engaged in buying and selling other goods made enough profit to buy or rent land on both sides of Hen Brook, build private wharves, jetties, warehouses, yards and shops. Their accommodation was above the shop which  had frontage on the south side of the High Street. 

The owner of the navigation kept their own stores and boats at Hen Brook. From here they sent out men in boats to make repairs to locks and sluice gates. 

During the Civil War (1642 – 1649) Spencer found it difficult to maintain the locks so they fell into disuse. As a result, traffic upstream to Bedford was not possible until the end of the 17th century. Thomas Baskervill’es Journals in 1861 commented that ‘boats of burden could get no further that St Neots.’

This was a great economic boost to St Neots as all produce from Bedfordshire had to be brought to wharves in the town. The Duke of Bedford used to send his wagons from Woburn to St Neots to pick up the cases of wine he had brought over by ship from France, Spain, Portugal and Italy!

Another boost to the navigation occurred in 1757. Entrepreneurs, people willing to invest in a scheme they thought would bring large profits, applied to Parliament for a license to open a canal between Tempsford and Hitchin, going through sandy and Biggleswade. They were granted permission to improve the River Ivel between Tempsford and Biggleswade. This Ivel Navigation covered 8 miles, and was opened in 1758. 
The waterway mostly carried coal. Traffic was light at first, and it took the canal's promoters over 20 years to recoup their £6,000 investment. They had to pay tolls to use the locks at Little Paxton and Eaton Socon.
The river was well used throughout the 17th and 18th century. There was a new  wharf erected alongside the river at Priory Brewery and another by the River Mill in Eaton Socon. There was a public wharf on Brook Street.

In 1818 about 25% of the Thursday Market was devoted to buying and selling corn. Coal from King’s Lynn was offloaded in wharves and distributed to villages within a twenty-mile (32 km.) radius. The annual revenue of the navigation company from its tolls was £15,000.

With the development of coal-fired steam engines boat owners invested in this much quicker and more reliable power source.

Traffic continued to use the river until the railway was built in 1850. Although barge owners introduced steam-power to improve the speed, the new railway trains were quicker, could carry more goods and did not have problems with locks and having to pay tolls. As more and more goods were sent by train the competition caused river navigation to dwindle and decline.

.In 1879 the Ouse Navigation Company’s wharf and depot at Navigation Wharf with its storage sheds and lime kiln were rented out to Charles Daintree and Fred Jewson. 

Sir Thomas Grey Cullum, the owner of the navigation between St Ives and St Neots, refused a good offer from the Great Northern Railway Company, and his share gradually dwindled.

In 1885 a speaker at a meeting of St Neots Local Board said that “the navigation is practically closed and the town is at the mercy of the railway.”  

In a report to the County Council in 1890, Major Mandarin stated that all navigation above Tempsford ceased in 1876, and above Eaton Socon in 1878. The navigation between St Ives and St Neots was about to finish. Only 37 barges remained and, because the river had not been dredged, could only travel half laden and only complete two or three trips a month. Tolls received were not more that £250.

Sir Francis sold the navigation rights to Mr Kirkham of Huntingdon Street. They were later sold to his agent, Mr Fairey of St Neots.

By 1890 local businessmen were so concerned that the railway would monopolise the town’s trade that they formed a syndicate to buy the navigation rights. They paid Mr Fairey £17,000, bought steam tugs, dredged the river and proposed to build a new canal between Bedford and the Grand Junction Canal at Newport Pagnell. This would have joined the Great Ouse with the rest of the canal network in the Midlands and provide access to the London trade. 

Their scheme did not happen. In 1892 the navigation was auctioned but the highest bid was only £5,200.  The following year it was bought by Mr L. T. Simpson. His Ouse Transport Company advertised for business in 1895 between Lynn and Bedford. A weekly service between Lynn and St Neots was announced leaving St Neots on Saturday and Lynn on Wednesday. 

In July 1895 the newspaper reported that Mr C. G. Tebbutt had just received 20 barges of timber, the largest consignment of waterborne goods.

The revival was brief. The borough of Godmanchester claimed ancient rights to open the navigation sluices when their land was under threat of flood. The County Council took up their case. Users of pleasure boats were concerned about the poor state of the locks and having to pay tolls. They wanted Simpson to maintain the locks, dredge the river and stop him from interfering with non-commercial river traffic. In 1899 the Chancery Court decided that the Ouse between St Neots, St Ives and the sea was a public navigable river and a common highway. The locks were part of the navigation but Simpson was not forced to maintain them. 

A procession of pleasure boats left the town towards the Paper Mill and forced the lock on the sluice gates. As a result, Simpson decided to cut his losses and left the locks to decay.

In 1900 there was another attempt to revive it. C. G. Tebbutt of St Neots was part of a planned Ouse Navigation Limited company with £20,000 to buy the navigation rights, use steam-powered screw propelled barges to reduce labour costs and avoid using horses and tow paths. The company did not raise enough  money. A similar attempt in 1907 failed.
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